
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
MIDDLE DISTRICT OF ALABAMA 

NORTHERN DIVISION 
 
       )   
MUSCOGEE CREEK NATION,   )    
HICKORY GROUND TRIBAL TOWN, and ) 
MEKKO GEORGE THOMPSON,   ) 
       ) 
   Plaintiffs,   ) 
       ) 
vs.       )    Case No. 2:12-cv-01079-MHT-CSC 
       ) 
POARCH BAND OF CREEK INDIANS,  )     
BUFORD ROLLIN, STEPHANIE BRYAN,  )  
ROBERT MCGHEE, DAVID GEHMAN,   )  
ARTHUR MOTHERSHED, KEITH MARTIN,  ) 
SANDY HOLLINGER, GARVIS SELLS,  ) 
EDDIE TULLIS, ROBERT THROWER,  ) 
PCI GAMING AUTHORITY,    ) 
BRIDGET WASDIN, MATTHEW MARTIN,   ) 
BILLY SMITH, TIM MANNING,   ) 
FLINTCO, LLC,      )  
MARTIN CONSTRUCTION, INC.,  ) 
D.H. GRIFFIN WRECKING CO, INC.,  ) 
KEN SALAZAR, Secretary of the Interior  )  
JONATHAN JARVIS, Director,   )  
National Park Service,     ) 
KEVIN WASHBURN, Assistant Secretary,  ) 
Bureau of Indian Affairs, and   ) 
AUBURN UNIVERSITY,    ) 
       ) 
   Defendants.   ) 
 
 

PLAINTIFFS' RESPONSE TO DEFENDANTS’ MOTIONS TO DISMISS 

 

INTRODUCTION 
 

 The Muscogee (Creek) Nation (“MCN”), Hickory Ground Tribal Town (“HGTT”) 

and Mekko George Thompson (collectively “Plaintiffs”) hereby respond to the various 

motions for dismissal before the Court.  For the reasons stated below, the motions 
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should be denied because the Court has jurisdiction over each of the Defendants and 

Plaintiffs have alleged facially valid claims for violations of federal law.  

  The United States, by its motion to dismiss, documents the abdication of its 

statutory responsibilities and fiduciary obligations to the Plaintiffs.  The Court has 

jurisdiction to review unlawful final agency actions and unreasonably withheld or 

delayed actions by federal officials to protect Plaintiffs’ rights.  5 U.S.C. § 706.  

 The Court has jurisdiction over the Poarch Band of Creek Indians (“PBCI”) and 

its tribal officials (“Tribal Defendants”) because the Plaintiffs allege an ongoing violation 

of federal law and seek prospective relief.  In Ex Parte Young, 209 U.S. 123 (1908) the 

Supreme Court established that a state officer may be sued to restrain illegal conduct 

under color of law even where the state enjoys sovereign immunity. Likewise, tribal 

officials are subject to suit under the Ex Parte Young doctrine.  See Crowe & Dunlevy v. 

Stidham, 640 F.3d 1140 (10th Cir. 2011); Seminole Tribe of Florida v. Florida, 517 U.S. 

44, 73 (1996); Keweenaw Bay Indian Community v. Kleine, 546 F. Supp. 2d 509, 517 

(W.D. Mich. 2008); Vann v. Kempthorne, 534 F.3d 741, 750 (D.C. Cir. 2008); and Vann 

v. U.S. Dept. of the Interior, 701 F.3d 927, 928 (D.C. Cir. 2012).  

 The Tribal Defendants cannot rely on “special sovereignty interests” to cloak their 

illegal actions given the specific relief sought in this case.  Moreover, the “special 

sovereignty interests” analysis cited in their motion to dismiss was abrogated by the 

U.S. Supreme Court in Verizon Maryland, Inc. v. Public Service Com’n of Maryland, 535 

U.S. 635, 648 (2002). “[T]o the extent that [we read] Coeur d’Alene as requiring federal 

courts to examine whether the relief sought against a state official implicates special 
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sovereignty interests, we recognize today that Verizon Maryland abrogated this step.” 

Tarrant Regional Water Dist. v. Sevenoaks, 545 F.3d 906, 912-914 (10th Cir. 2008) 

(internal citations omitted); see also Muscogee (Creek) Nation v. Pruitt, 669 F.3d 1159, 

1167 FN.4 (10th Cir. 2012); Indiana Prot. & Advocacy Services v. Indiana Family & Soc. 

Services Admin., 603 F.3d 365, 367 (7th Cir. 2010); and Burlington N. & Sante Fe R.R. 

Co. v. Vaughn, 509 F.3d 1085, 1092 (9th Cir. 2007). 

 The motions to dismiss filed by the private contractors (“Contractors”) 

responsible for disturbing the human remains of Plaintiffs’ ancestors and profiting 

therefrom also must be denied, because contractors doing business with Indian tribes 

do not enjoy sovereign immunity.  Indeed, their motions to dismiss fail to cite any legal 

authority supporting their proposition.  “[O]nly states and arms of the State possess 

immunity from suits authorized by federal law.”  Northern Ins. Co. of N.Y. v. Chatham 

County, Ga., 547 U.S. 189, 193 (2006); see also Manders v. Lee, 338 F.3d 1304, 1308 

(11th Cir. 2003) (en banc); McMahan v. Presidential Airways, Inc., 502 F.3d 1331 (11th 

Cir. 2007) (status as a common law agent of state is necessary but not sufficient for 

immunity); and Rosario v. American Corrective Counseling Services, Inc., 506 F.3d 

1039, 1047 (11th Cir.2007) (collection agency administering state program pursuant to 

state statute not entitled to immunity).   As private companies they do not enjoy 

sovereign immunity merely by virtue of their contract with an Indian tribe.  Furthermore, 

they are necessary parties for any relief this Court may fashion.      
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 Finally, Plaintiffs clearly have alleged facially valid claims for recent and 

continuing violations of federal law, which warrant the Court’s denial of Defendants’ 

motions, and intervention to prevent further irreparable harm.  

STANDARD OF REVIEW 
 
 Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2) requires that a complaint contain a “short and plain 

statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief.”  As this Court has 

noted: 

In addressing a motion to dismiss, the court will consider only the facts 
contained within the four corners of the complaint1.  St. George v. Pinellas 
County, 285 F.3d 1334, 1337 (11th Cir. 2002).  The court accepts the 
plaintiff’s allegations as true, Hishon v. King & Spalding, 467 U.S. 69, 73, 
104 S.Ct. 2229, 81 L.Ed.2d 59 (1984), and construes the complaint in the 
light most favorable to the plaintiff, Cottone v. Jenne, 326 F.3d 1352, 1357 
(11th Cir. 2003).  ‘The issue is not whether a plaintiff will ultimately prevail 
but whether the claimant is entitled to offer evidence to support the 
claims.’  Scheuer v. Rhodes, 416 U.S. 236, 94 S.Ct. 1683, 40 L.Ed.2d 90 
(1974).  To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint need not contain 
‘detailed factual allegations.’  Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 
555, 127 S.Ct. 1955, 167 L.Ed.2d 929 (2007).  The complaint must 
incorporate ‘only enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible on 
its face.’  Id. at 1974.  The court is thus concerned with whether [Plaintiffs 
have] provided enough factual matter that, if true, would raise a 
reasonable expectation that discovery will reveal evidence that entitles 
[them] to relief.  See id. at 1965.”      

 

                                                 
1 The Federal Defendants have submitted numerous exhibits with their motion to 
dismiss.  These documents are outside “the four corners of the complaint” and should 
not be considered by this Court for the purposes of the Motion to Dismiss.  Accordingly, 
Plaintiffs request the Court exclude these outside matters.  If the Court were to take 
these matters into consideration, then this motion must be treated as “one for summary 
judgment under Rule 56.”  Fed.R.Civ.P. 12(d).  As such, Plaintiffs require additional time 
to respond and cannot do so without additional discovery.  See Exhibit A, Declaration of 
Brendan Ludwick. 
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Johnson v. Andalusia Police Dept., 633 F.Supp.2d 1289, 1292 (M.D. Ala. 2009); see 

also, Morrow v. Green Tree Servicing, LLC, 360 F.Supp.2d 1246, 1248 (M.D. Ala. 205). 

 The factual allegations in the four corners of the complaint, when taken as true 

and when considered in a light most favorable to the Plaintiffs state a claim for relief that 

is plausible on its face, and therefore, the Defendants’ motions to dismiss must be 

denied. 

NATIONAL HISTORIC PRESERVATION ACT 2 
 

A.  Unreasonable Delay to Review the PBCI Historic Preservation Program 
 
 The Federal Defendants have unreasonably delayed review of the historic 

preservation program for Hickory Ground as required by NHPA § 470(a)(b)(2)(A).  That 

section requires the Secretary to review a historic preservation program “periodically, 

but not less than every 4 years after [its] approval” in consultation with the Advisory 

Council on Historic Preservation to determine whether the program is consistent with 

the NHPA.  

 By its terms 16 U.S.C. § 470(b)(2)(A) explicitly requires the Secretary to review 

state historic preservation programs in consultation with the ACHP for compliance with 

the NHPA.  The PBCI assumed the historic preservation responsibilities of the State of 

Alabama, and the Secretary has the responsibility to review PBCI’s preservation 

                                                 
216 U.S.C. §§ 470 et seq. 
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program as set forth in the NPS Agreement § 14 and NPS regulation 36 CFR § 

61.4(d)(1).3 

As the Federal Defendants note in their brief, in the 1990s the Alabama State 

Historic Preservation Officer (SHPO) opposed PBCI’s efforts to excavate Plaintiffs’ 

ancestors and construct a gambling facility on the National Register protected property.  

(Doc. 95, p. 3).  In 1999, the PBCI circumvented efforts by the SHPO to preserve 

Hickory Ground by assuming the SHPO’s historic preservation responsibilities under 

NHPA § 470a(d)(2) and entered an agreement with the NPS to preserve the historic 

property (“NPS Agreement”).  This is supported by Federal Defendants submission as § 

14 of the NPS Agreement providing in relevant part: 

The National Park Service, pursuant to Sections 101(d)(2) and 101(b)(2) 
of the Act, and in direct consultation with the Tribe, will carry out a periodic 
review of the Tribe’s program pursuant to the Act, to ensure that the Tribe 
is carrying out the program consistent with this agreement…. Generally 
such a review will occur every four years.  (Doc. 95-5).   

  
 The NHPA requires the Secretary to review PBCI’s historic preservation program 

under § 470(a)(b)(2)(A), and the Secretary has unreasonably delayed or refused to 

conduct this review.   

                                                 
3 In addition, the NPS Proposed Rule at 36 C.F.R. § 61.8(o)(6), provides in relevant 

part: 

Section 101(d)(2) of the NHPA says that a tribe may assume SHPO duties 
“in accordance with” section 101(b)(2) of the NHPA.  This latter section 
requires periodic review, not less often than once every 4 years, of each 
SHPO program to ensure that it remains consistent with the NHPA….   

 
The Secretary’s duty to review a tribal historic preservation program at least once every 
4 years for compliance with the NHPA under the Proposed Rule mirrors the review 
requirements of NHPA § 470(b)(2)(A). 
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 Sections 470a(d)(1)(A)-(C) place the following mandatory obligations on the 

Secretary: 

(A)  The Secretary shall establish a program and promulgate regulations 
to assist Indians tribes in preserving their particular historic properties…. 
(B) [that] shall be developed in such a manner as to ensure that tribal 
values are taken into account to the extent feasible…. [and] (C) The 
Secretary shall consult with Indian tribes… and other interested parties 
and initiate the program under subparagraph (A) by not later than October 
1, 1994. 
 

The Secretary has failed and unreasonably delayed to promulgate regulations or 

consult with Plaintiffs by the statutory deadline as set forth in NHPA §§ 470(d)(1)(A)-

(C).4  The Secretary and NPS have a duty to review PBCI’s historic preservation 

program at least every 4 years.  The Federal Defendants have failed or at minimum, 

unreasonably delayed performance of their statutory obligation.  In fact, there is no 

evidence that the PBCI’s Historic Preservation program has ever been reviewed for 

compliance with the NHPA.   

 Indeed, had the Federal Defendants performed their statutory obligation, any 

review would have concluded that PBCI’s failure to preserve the historic property 

violates the NHPA.  For example, a review of PBCI’s historic preservation program 

would find: 

 The Federal Defendants failed to identify MCN as the Indian tribe that attaches 
religious and cultural significance to Hickory Ground and failed to invite them to 
be a consulting party all in violation of 36 C.F.R. §§ 800.2(c)(2)(ii) and 
800.3(f)(2);  

 

 The Federal Defendants entered the NPS agreement without first consulting with 
MCN in violation of NHPA § 470a(d)(2)(D); 

                                                 
4 This failure and unreasonable delay constitutes an independent basis for judicial 
review under the APA.   
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 PBCI and its Tribal Historic Preservation Officer Defendant Robert Thrower 
violated the NPS Agreement § 7 by failing to consult with MCN or take into 
account its views;            

 

 PBCI and Contractors violated the NAGPRA and the ARPA by excavating the 
lineal ancestors of Plaintiffs without notification, consultation or consent by 
Plaintiffs; 

 

 PBCI violated its own historic preservation policies that were in effect when the 
NPS Agreement was entered, which provided that under no circumstances are 
the burials on the Poarch Creek Indians Reservations, or lands under their 
control, to be excavated; 

 

 PBCI and Contractors violated the terms of ARPA permits requiring consultation 
with Plaintiffs by failing to notify, consult or receive consent from Plaintiffs prior to 
excavating Plaintiffs’ lineal ancestors;  

 

 The ACHP determined that PBCI adversely affected the National Register listed 
property in violation of the NHPA; and 

 

 PBCI and Contractors are destroying the historic property by disturbing human 
remains and funerary objects and constructing a $246 million gambling facility at 
the historic ceremonial ground at Hickory Ground, despite the fact that there is 
plenty of other available property.  

 
Indeed, a review of PBCI’s preservation program, which should be made in consultation 

with the ACHP under NHPA § 470a(b)(2)(A), would give weight to the ACHP’s findings 

that: 

…activities undertaken by the Poarch Band prior to the completion of the 
review required by Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act 
(NHPA) have adversely affected the National Register-listed property.... 
[and] the archaeological surveys and data recovery were not carried out in 
compliance with Section 106 of the NHPA.  (Doc. 57 ¶ 80). 
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Even according to the Federal Defendants’ own exhibit5 after the MCN notified the NPS 

that its rights were being violated at Hickory Ground, the NPS did not review PBCI’s 

historic preservation program for compliance as required by NHPA § 470a(b)(2)(A). 

 This Court has jurisdiction to order the Federal Defendants to perform statutory 

duties to review PBCI’s historic preservation program in consultation with Plaintiffs, and 

to enjoin further excavation and destruction to the historic property until the review is 

completed. 

  B. Unreasonable Delay to Suspend and Revoke the NPS Agreement 

 The Federal Defendants not only failed to review PBCI’s deficient historic 

preservation program, they also failed and unreasonably delayed taking corrective 

action.  NHPA § 470a(b)(2)(B) provides in relevant part: 

If, at any time, the Secretary determines that a major aspect of a State 
program is not consistent with this Act, the Secretary shall disapprove the 
program and suspend in whole or in part any contracts or cooperative 
agreements with the State and the State Historic Preservation Officer 
under this Act….  (emphasis added). 

   
Such corrective action applies to a SHPO program administered by a tribe, as set forth 

in NPS Proposed Rule 36 C.F.R. § 61.8(o)(6), which provides, “A Tribe with deficiencies 

that warrant immediate action… will receive notice from the NPS that its approved 

status is revoked….” 

                                                 
5 See letter from MCN Council Speaker Wilbur Gouge to the NPS dated October 23, 
2002, stating in relevant part: "…[I]n evaluation of the Poarch proposal to assume 
SHPO responsibilities, the National Park Service, by statute, was required to enter into 
consultation with federally recognized Native American Nations having historic 
properties that may be effected by execution of the proposed plan.  NPS compliance 
with this requirement would have resulted in consultation with the Muscogee (Creek) 
Nation prior to making any determination on the Poarch proposal."  (Doc. 95-8). 
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  The Court has jurisdiction to review Federal Defendants’ failure and 

unreasonable delay to revoke PBCI’s historic preservation authority.  Had the Federal 

Defendants taken such action, the Alabama SHPO could have continued to assert 

authority to protect Plaintiffs’ ancestors from excavation and preserve the historic 

integrity of the property, as it did before PBCI circumvented the SHPO’s efforts to 

preserve Hickory Ground by assuming the SHPO’s duties and responsibilities.  As the 

brief in support of the Federal Defendants’ motion to dismiss explains:  

In 1991, the BIA, as part of its duties under the NHPA, entered into 
consultation with the Alabama State Historic Preservation Office 
(“SHPO”)…. The SHPO did not believe excavations would mitigate any 
potential adverse effects and the BIA elevated the matter to the Advisory 
Council on Historic Preservation (“ACHP”)…. In 1992, ACHP and BIA 
formally terminated consultation when they failed to reach an 
agreement…. In 1999, the NPS entered into an agreement with the 
Poarch Band for assumption by the Tribe of certain responsibilities 
pursuant to the NHPA.  (Doc. 95 at p. 3).  

 
Clearly, the State of Alabama was a better steward of historic preservation for Hickory 

Ground.  In light of PBCI’s failure to preserve the historic property in violation of the 

NHPA, this Court has jurisdiction to set aside the NPS Agreement that provides the 

basis for PBCI’s historic preservation authority, and return that authority to the Alabama 

SHPO. 

C. Failure to Consult under NHPA § 106: The Section 106 Process6 

  The Court has further jurisdiction to review Federal Defendants’ unreasonable 

delay in consulting with MCN pursuant to NHPA § 106, which requires the “head of any 

Federal agency having direct or indirect jurisdiction over a proposed Federal or federally 

                                                 
6 16 U.S.C. § 3470f 
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assisted undertaking” to “prior to the approval of the expenditure of any Federal funds… 

take into account the effect of the undertaking on any… site… that is included in or 

eligible for inclusion in the National Register.”  See also 36 C.F.R. § 800.1(a).   

 A federal “undertaking means a project, activity or program funded in whole or in 

part under the direct or indirect jurisdiction of a Federal agency, including those carried 

out by or on behalf of a Federal agency; those carried out with Federal financial 

assistance; and those requiring a Federal permit, license or approval.”  36 C.F.R. § 

800.16(y).   

 The Federal Defendants have undertaken several actions that constitute a 

continuous “undertaking” requiring consultation with Plaintiffs pursuant to NHPA § 106, 

including: funding PBCI’s acquisition of Hickory Ground with historic preservation 

funds7; accepting Hickory Ground into federal trust; granting PBCI THPO authority over 

Hickory Ground; permitting the excavation of Plaintiffs’ lineal ancestors’ and sacred 

funerary objects; approving PBCI’s gaming ordinance and licenses to conduct gambling 

on Hickory Ground; and continuously funding PBCI to perform “historic preservation” at 

Hickory Ground.   

 According to the National Park Service website, PBCI received at least $772,989 

in Federal funding for historic preservation in the years 1996-2012.8  This funding itself 

constitutes an undertaking, but also constitutes part of a continuous undertaking that 

                                                 
7 On April 9, 1980, the Department of Interior awarded a $165,000 historic preservation 
grant that enabled PBCI to acquire Hickory Ground.  (Doc. 57 ¶ 23). 
 
8 This funding is not exhaustive, but is the only information currently available to 
Plaintiffs without further discovery.  Source: http://www.nps.gov/history/thpo/downloads/ 
THPOGrantAmt1996-2012.xlsx (last checked March 22, 2013). 
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includes all the federal actions that allowed PBCI to excavate the historic ceremonial 

Hickory Ground and proceed toward transforming it into a gambling facility.  See 

Waterford Citizens’ Ass’n v. Reilly, 970 F.2d 1287 (4th Cir. 1992) (recognizing that a 

continuing project, activity or program constitutes an undertaking triggering section 106 

consultation.)   

 Since NHPA § 106 is triggered, the consultations must be “coordinated with other 

requirements of other statutes, such as… the Native American Graves Protection and 

Repatriation Act, the American Indian Religious Freedom Act, [and] the Archeological 

Resources Protection Act….” 36 C.F.R. § 800.2(a)(4). 

 Plaintiff MCN has a right to be consulted in the section 106 process under NHPA 

regulations that require “the agency official to consult with any Indian tribe… that 

attaches religious and cultural significance to historic properties that may be affected by 

an undertaking.  This requirement applies regardless of the location of historic property.  

Such Indian tribe… shall be a consulting party.”  36 C.F.R. § 800.2(c)(2)(ii).  (emphasis 

added.)  The regulations make clear that tribes with ancestral and aboriginal ties to 

ceded lands must be consulted: “When Indian tribes… attach religious and cultural 

significance to historic properties off tribal lands, section 101(d)(6)(B) of the act requires 

Federal agencies to consult with such Indian tribes… in the section 106 process.  

Federal agencies should be aware that frequently historic properties of religious and 

cultural significance are located on ancestral, aboriginal, or ceded lands of Indian 

tribes… [and] should consider that when complying with the procedures in this part.”  36 

C.F.R. § 800.2(c)(2)(ii)(D) (emphasis added).  See also 36 C.F.R. 800.3(f)(2) (requiring 
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reasonable effort to identify Indian tribes that might attach religious and cultural 

significance to historic properties in the area of potential effects and invite them to be 

consulting parties.)   

 The Federal Defendants do not deny that they never consulted with the Plaintiffs.  

The Court has jurisdiction to review the Federal Defendants’ failure and unreasonable 

delay to conduct consultations under NHPA § 106, and to enjoin further destruction of 

Hickory Ground until such consultation occurs.  See, e.g., Comanche Nation v. U.S., 

2008 WL 4426621 (W.D. Okla. 2008) (granting injunction where federal government 

failed to make reasonable and good faith efforts to consult, identify and resolve adverse 

effects that would result from the construction of a building); Quechan Tribe of the Fort 

Yuma Indian Reservation v. Department of Interior, 755 F. Supp. 2d 1104 (S.D. Cal.  

2010) (granting injunction against Department of Interior’s decision to approve a solar 

energy project for lack of consultation with tribe); Attakai v. United States, 746 F.Supp. 

1395 (D. Ariz. 1990) (holding tribe was entitled to preliminary injunction against 

construction because of non-compliance with NHPA); Pit River Tribe v. United States 

Forest Serv., 469 F 3d. 768 (9th Cir. 2006); Muckleshoot Indian Tribe v. U.S. Forest 

Service, 177 F.3d 800 (9th Cir. 1999) (reversing analysis of adverse effect of land 

exchange); Pueblo of Sandia v. U.S., 50 F.3d 856 (10th Cir. 1995) (federal agency did 

not make reasonable efforts to identify tribal cultural property or consult); Bonnichsen v. 

U.S., 217 F.Supp 2d 1116 (D. Or. 2002), aff’d and remanded, 357 F.3d 962 (9th Cir. 

2004) (did not adequately consider effects of burying historic remains). 
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D. NHPA §§ 110 and 112 
 
 NHPA § 110 imposes the following additional duties on the Federal Defendants 

to consult with Plaintiffs and ensure compliance with NAGPRA: 

(D) that the agency’s preservation-related activities are carried out in 
consultation with other… Indian tribes… and… (E) that the agency’s 
procedures for compliance with section 106 of this Act…. (iii) provide for 
the disposition of Native American cultural items from Federal or tribal 
land in a manner consistent with section 3(c) of the Native American 
Grave Protection and Repatriation Act…. 

 
16 U.S.C. § 470h-2(a)(2)(D-E).  The Federal Defendants have failed and unreasonably 

delayed consultation with MCN under NHPA § 110 and federal agency procedures have 

not provided for the disposition of Native American cultural items in accordance with 

NAGPRA, and these NHPA violations provide additional independent jurisdictional basis 

for judicial review.   

 Finally, NHPA § 112 requires:  
 

(b) “….the Secretary shall, in consultation with the Council, promulgate 
guidelines to ensure that Federal, State, and tribal historic preservation 
programs subject to this Act include plans to… (3) encourage the 
protection of Native American cultural items (within the meaning of section 
2(3) and (9) of the Native American Grave Protection and Repatriation Act 
(25 U.S.C. sec 3001(3) and (9)) and of properties of religious or cultural 
importance to Indian tribes….  (4) encourage owners who are undertaking 
archaeological excavations to…. (D) prior to excavating or disposing of a 
Native American cultural item in which an Indian tribe… may have an 
interest under section 3(a)(2)(B) or (C)), give notice to and consult with 
such Indian tribe…. 

 
16 U.S.C. § 470h-4(b).  NHPA § 112 provides an independent basis for judicial review.  

The Federal Defendants failed to promulgate guidelines to ensure PBCI’s historic 

preservation program protects Plaintiffs’ ancestors’ human remains and funerary objects 

pursuant to NAGPRA.  The Federal Defendants further failed to protect Hickory Ground, 
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which possesses religious and cultural importance to Plaintiffs.  In addition, neither 

notice nor consultation was given to Plaintiffs prior to the excavation of those cultural 

items.  The Federal Defendants have failed to fulfill their obligations under NHPA.  This 

has allowed the PBCI, Tribal Defendants and Contractors to violate Plaintiffs’ rights 

guaranteed under NHPA.  Accordingly, Defendants’ motions to dismiss should be 

denied. 

ARCHEOLOGICAL RESOURCES PROTECTION ACT9 

 The Court has jurisdiction to review Defendants’ violations of the ARPA.  As 

stated above, Defendants’ ARPA violations serve as basis for violations of the NHPA.10   

However, the ARPA also imposes independent statutory duties that have been violated, 

over which this Court may properly exercise judicial review.     

 The Federal and Tribal Defendants argue that no permit is required for 

excavation under ARPA § 470cc(g)(1), which provides, “No permit shall be required… 

for the excavation or removal by any Indian tribe or member thereof of any 

archeological resource located on Indian lands of such Indian tribe.”  Section 

470cc(g)(1) is inapplicable to this case for several reasons.  First, federal permits were 

in fact issued, which triggered ARPA’s notification and consultation requirements and 

required compliance with the terms of the permits.   Second, § 470cc(g)(1) applies only 

to excavation performed by an Indian tribe, and does not apply to excavations 

                                                 
9 16 U.S.C. §§ 470aa, et seq. 
 
10 See for example 36 C.F.R. § 800.2(a)(4) providing that NHPA consultations under 
section 106 must be coordinated with requirements of the ARPA. 
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performed by non-tribal entities, such as defendant Auburn University and the 

Contractors in this case.  Third, § 470cc(g)(1) only applies to the necessity of a permit 

for intentional excavation under certain circumstances, but even when applicable, does 

not vitiate ARPA’s other provisions that require notification11 and consultation12 to 

Plaintiffs.  Fourth, as noted below, there is legal doubt whether Hickory Ground 

constitutes “Indian lands” given that the trust acquisition was illegal under Carcieri v. 

Salazar, 555 U.S.C. 379 (2009).  For each of these separate and independent reasons 

the Defendants are subject to the provisions of ARPA. 

 ARPA requires that “[i]n order to identify sites of religious or cultural importance, 

the Federal land manager shall seek to identify all Indian tribes having aboriginal or 

historic ties to the land under the Federal land manager’s jurisdiction and seek to 

determine… the location and nature of specific sites of religious or cultural 

importance….” 43 C.F.R. § 7.7(b)(1).  In this case, the Federal land manager has failed, 

refused or unreasonably delayed to identify Hickory Ground as a site of religious and 

cultural importance to MCN.   

 ARPA § 470cc(c) requires Federal Defendants to notify MCN prior to issuing 

permits to excavate Hickory Ground: “If a permit issued under this section may result in 

harm to, or destruction of, any religious or cultural site… the Federal land manager shall 

notify any Indian tribe which may consider the site as having religious or cultural 

                                                 
11 (ARPA §§ 470cc(c) and 43 C.F.R. § 7.7(a)) 
 
12 (43 C.F.R. § 7.7(b)(4)) 
 

Case 2:12-cv-01079-MHT-CSC   Document 100   Filed 03/22/13   Page 16 of 42



- 17 - 
 

importance.”13   The Federal land manager failed and unreasonably delayed  notification 

to MCN prior to issuing permits, which were extended in 2005, and authorized the 

recent excavation at Hickory Ground.  In obtaining this prior permit, the Defendants 

understood that these excavation activities required ARPA compliance.  It is 

disingenuous to try to unring that bell by now claiming they are exempt from the permit 

requirement as general earth moving activities. 

 The ARPA excavation permit that was extended in 2005 was not only issued in 

violation of the ARPA, the terms of the permit were violated as well.  Special condition 

(g) of the permit provides:  

Excavation or removal of any Native American human remains, funerary 
objects, sacred objects, and objects of cultural patrimony must be 
preceded by consultation…. Consultation should be conducted with the 
lineal descendants… Native American representatives, and traditional 
religious leaders of all Indian tribes… that can reasonably be assumed to 
be culturally associated with the cultural items….  (Doc. 95-9). 

 
Plaintiffs were never meaningfully consulted as required by this federal permit, which 

authorized the recent excavation at Hickory Ground.  This Court has jurisdiction over 

these violations of the federal ARPA permit. 

 The ARPA regulations at 43 C.F.R. § 7.7(b)(4) also require the Federal 

Defendants to consult with MCN as follows: “When circumstances calling for special 

notification have been determined by the Federal land manager, the Federal land 

manger will include a requirement in the terms and conditions of permits, under § 7.9(c), 

                                                 
13 See also 43 C.F.R. § 7.7(a) (“If the issuance of a permit under this part may result in 
harm to, or destruction of, any Indian tribal religious or cultural site on public lands… the 
Federal land manager shall notify any Indian tribe which consider the site as having 
religious or cultural importance.”); and 43 C.F.R. § 7.7(b)(4) (“Circumstances calling for 
notification might include the discovery of human remains.”) 
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for permittees to notify the Federal land manager immediately upon the occurrence of 

such circumstances.  Following the permittee’s notification, the Federal land manger will 

notify and consult with the tribe or group as appropriate.  In cases involving Native 

American human remains and other “cultural items”, as defined by NAGPRA, the 

Federal land manager is referred to NAGPRA and its implementing regulations.”  

(emphasis added.)  The Federal Defendants have failed and unreasonably delayed to 

consult with MCN in violation of the ARPA.  Hickory Ground is a case involving Native 

American human remains and cultural items subject to NAGPRA, and this Court has 

jurisdiction to require the consultation.  

 Finally, even assuming the removal and excavation was done lawfully, the ARPA 

requires that the disposition of excavated Native American human remains and cultural 

items be made in accordance with NAGPRA.  43 C.F.R. § 7.3(a)(6).  Under NAGPRA, 

the Tribal Defendants and Auburn University are in wrongful possession of human 

remains and sacred funerary objects that belong to Plaintiffs.  This is an independent 

violation of the ARPA.   

NATIVE AMERICAN GRAVES PROTECTION AND REPATRIATION ACT14 

 NAGPRA’s legislative history indicates that Congress recognized, “that there 

may be circumstances where human remains or objects found on one Indian tribe’s 

lands may be culturally affiliated with a different Indian tribe.”  S. Rep. No. 473, 101st 

Cong., 2d Sess. 1,9 (1990).  Thus NAGPRA sets forth rules of priority to determine 

                                                 
14 25 U.S.C. §§ 3001 et seq. 
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ownership and control of Native American human remains and cultural property under 

such circumstances. 

 Contrary to Defendants’ assertions, NAGPRA applies to both federal and tribal 

lands.  NAGPRA provides that the highest priority of “ownership or control of Native 

American cultural items which are excavated or discovered on Federal or tribal lands 

after November 16, 1990” shall be given “in the case of Native American human 

remains and associated funerary objects, in the lineal descendants of the Native 

American.” (emphasis added). 25 U.S.C. § 3002(a)(1). 

 In contrast, NAGPRA gives lower priority in terms of ownership and control over 

Native American human remains and associated funerary objects to “Indian tribes on 

whose tribal land such objects or remains were discovered.”  25 U.S.C. § 3002(a)(2)(A).   

 Plaintiffs’ allegations must be taken as true and therefore they are the lineal 

descendants for purposes of this response. (Doc. 57 ¶¶ 10, 29, 33, 82, 83).  Plaintiffs 

are entitled to ownership and control over the human remains and associated funerary 

objects at Hickory Ground under NAGPRA because Plaintiffs are the lineal descendants 

of the ancestors buried at Hickory Ground15.  Doc. 57 at ¶ 82.  The funerary objects and 

remains buried at Hickory Ground belong to Plaintiffs’ lineal ancestors, because Hickory 

Ground was Plaintiffs’ last capital prior to forced removal from their ancestral 

homelands.  Doc. 57 at ¶¶ 20, 22.  

                                                 
15 In contrast, the Tribal Defendants are the descendants of a small community of 
Creeks from Tensaw, Alabama--located over 150 miles from Hickory Ground--who 
assisted the United States to fight against and remove the Creek Nation from its 
ancestral homeland based at Hickory Ground.  Doc. 57 at  ¶¶ 9, 12, 20. 
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 43 C.F.R. § 10.14(b) sets forth criteria for determining lineal descent:   
 

“A lineal descendant is an individual tracing his or her ancestry directly 
and without interruption by means of the traditional kinship system of the 
appropriate Indian tribe… or by the common law system of descendence 
to a known Native American individual whose remains, funerary objects, 
or sacred objects are being requested under these regulations.  This 
standard requires that the earlier person be identified as an individual 
whose descendants can be traced.” 

 
 43 C.F.R. § 10.14(e) provides that the following evidence may be used to 

establish lineal descent: 

(e) Evidence.  Evidence of a kin or cultural affiliation between a present 
day individual, Indian tribe… and human remains, funerary objects, sacred 
objects, or objects of cultural patrimony must be established by using the 
following types of evidence: Geographical, kinship, biological, 
archeological, linguistic, folklore, oral tradition, historical, or other relevant 
information or expert opinion. 

 
 43 C.F.R. § 10.14(f) provides that lineal descent must be established by a 

preponderance of the evidence:  

(f) Standard of proof.  Lineal descent of a present-day individual from an 
earlier individual and cultural affiliation of a present-day Indian tribe… to 
human remains, funerary objects, sacred objects, or objects of cultural 
patrimony must be established by a preponderance of the evidence.  
Claimants do not have to establish cultural affiliation with scientific 
certainty.   

 
Combining the facts of the Complaint with the NAGPRA regulations, Plaintiffs are the 

lineal descendants.  Furthermore, Plaintiffs can identify the historical individuals who 

have been unlawfully excavated from Hickory Ground and will do so as this case 

proceeds.  Contrary to Tribal Defendants assertions, NAGPRA does not require those 

persons to be specifically named in the Complaint.   
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 Because Plaintiffs are the lineal descendants, they have the right to be notified 

under 43 C.F.R. § 10.4(a) “regarding the custody of human remains, funerary objects, 

sacred objects, or objects of cultural patrimony that are discovered inadvertently on… 

tribal lands after November 16, 1990.” 

 43 C.F.R. § 10.4(c) provides: “If the inadvertent discovery occurred in connection 

with an on-going activity on Federal or tribal lands, the person, in addition to providing 

the notice described above… must stop the activity in the area of the inadvertent 

discovery and make a reasonable effort to protect the human remains, funerary objects, 

sacred objects, or objects of cultural patrimony discovered inadvertently.”  (emphasis 

added). 

 After the activity is stopped and notification is made, the NAGPRA provides that 

excavation may only take place on tribal land pursuant to a federal permit following the 

requirements of ARPA.  43 C.F.R. § 10.4(e)(1)(iii) and 43 C.F.R. § 10.3(b)(1).  As stated 

above, ARPA requires notification to “any Indian tribe which may consider the site as 

having religious or cultural importance.”  In addition, the terms of the ARPA permit to 

excavate Plaintiffs’ ancestors were violated because Plaintiffs were never consulted.  

Therefore, these violations of ARPA also violated NAGPRA regulations.   

 In 2006, the archeologists reported that approximately 425 human features had 

been excavated, and at that time warned that, “proposed development of the property 

would be expected to encounter additional… human remains…. [and] construction in 

these areas would be extremely harmful to these items.”  It is still impossible to engage 

Case 2:12-cv-01079-MHT-CSC   Document 100   Filed 03/22/13   Page 21 of 42



- 22 - 
 

in ground disturbing at Hickory Ground without the risk of disturbing human remains 

belonging to the Plaintiffs.  (Doc. 57 ¶ 32). 

 As the lineal descendants, Plaintiffs have the rights to custody, ownership and 

control of the human remains, funerary objects, sacred objects, or objects of cultural 

patrimony excavated from Hickory Ground.  43 C.F.R. § 10.6.  On October 19, 2002, 

Plaintiffs Mekko George Thompson and Hickory Ground Tribal Town filed a NAGPRA 

claim with Defendant Bureau of Indian Affairs pursuant to 43 C.F.R. § 10.6(c).  (Doc. 

95-7).  Upon receipt of this claim, the Federal Defendants had duties to publish general 

notices of the proposed disposition and transfer custody of the objects to the lineal 

descendants.  Defendant Bureau of Indian Affairs failed and unreasonably delayed to 

take any action with respect this claim.    

 On March 12, 2008, Plaintiffs Mekko George Thompson and Hickory Ground 

Tribal Town filed a NAGPRA claim with Defendant National Park Service regarding 

human remains and funerary objects in the custody of Defendant Auburn University.  

On April 21, 2009, the Federal Defendants summarily denied the claim on the basis that 

Defendant Auburn University did not have possession or control of the remains.  (Doc. 

95-12).  The denial of Plaintiffs’ NAGPRA claim was arbitrary and capricious and 

contrary to law.   

 This Court has jurisdiction to review all Defendants’ violations of the NAGPRA 

pursuant to 25 U.S.C. § 3013 which provides: “The United States district courts shall 

have jurisdiction over any action brought by any person alleging a violation of this Act 
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and shall have the authority to issue such orders as may be necessary to enforce the 

provisions of this Act.” 

RELIGIOUS FREEDOM: AIRFA16 AND RFRA17 
 
 In February of this year, Muscogee Creek religious leaders determined that a 

ceremony must be performed at Hickory Ground, and members of the MCN and HGTT 

traveled from Oklahoma to Wetumpka, Alabama, to pray for the spirits of their ancestors 

that are being disturbed.  On February 15, 2013, three members of the MCN and HGTT 

were denied access to the ceremonial ground and arrested by PBCI tribal police officers 

for singing traditional Muscogee songs and praying in an area of Hickory Ground, which 

is open to the general public for commercial gambling.  They were arrested for 

exercising their freedom of religion on land they hold sacred, which was forcefully taken 

from their ancestors, and is now owned by the United States.18  They were detained at 

the Elmore County Jail, charged with criminal trespassing and banned from returning to 

their sacred ground.19                 

                                                 
16 42 U.S.C. §§ 1996 et seq. 
 
17 42 U.S.C. §§ 2000bb, et seq. 
 
18 The United States currently holds legal title to Hickory Ground in trust for the benefit 
of PBCI.  As such, Hickory Ground is federal land that is subject to federal law including 
the First Amendment of the U.S. Constitution.   
 
19

  See cases pending in the District Court of Elmore County as follows:  1) State vs. 
Deo, Case No. DC-2013-269; 2) State vs. Gray, Cases No. DC-2013-298 and 299; 3) 
State vs. Mead, Case No. DC-2013-268; and 4) State vs. Mendoza, Case No. DC-2013-
270. 
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 While it is admitted that AIRFA does not provide an independent right to relief, it 

does provide a policy statement that is enforceable through RFRA and should be 

considered when applying each of the other federal statutes.  The American Indian 

Religious Freedom Act (AIRFA) recognizes it is “the policy of the United States to 

protect and preserve for American Indians their inherent right of freedom to believe, 

express, and exercise the traditional religions of the American Indian… including but not 

limited to access to sites, use and possession of sacred objects, and the freedom to 

worship through ceremonial and traditional rights.” 20  42 U.S.C. 1996. 

 The AIRFA requires the President to “direct the various departments, agencies, 

and other instrumentalities responsible for administering relevant laws to evaluate their 

policies and procedures in consultation with native traditional religious leaders in order 

to determine appropriate changes necessary to protect and preserve Native American 

religious cultural rights and practices.21 

                                                 
20 See also Executive Order 13007 (Indian Sacred Sites) which requires federal 
agencies to “accommodate access to and ceremonial use of Indian sacred sites by 
Indian religious practitioners,” “avoid adversely affecting the physical integrity of such 
sacred sites,” and implement “procedures to ensure reasonable notice is provided of 
proposed actions or land management policies that may restrict future access to or 
ceremonial use of, or adversely affect the physical integrity of such sacred sites.”  
Executive Order 13007 §§ 1(a), 2(a).  Also, Section 12 of the United Nations 
Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, provides: “Indigenous peoples have 
the right to manifest, practice, develop and teach their spiritual and religious traditions, 
customs and ceremonies” and “the right to maintain, protect, and have access in privacy 
to their religious and cultural sites….”  
 
21 Executive 13175 (Consultation and Coordination with Indian Tribal Governments) 
orders agencies taking “actions that have substantial direct effects on one or more 
Indian tribes” to “have an accountable process to ensure meaningful and timely input by 
tribal officials in the development of regulatory policies that have tribal implications.”  
Executive Order 13175 §§ 1(a), 5(a). 
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 In Lyng v. Northwest Indian Cemetary Protective Ass’n, 485 U.S. 439 (1988) the 

Supreme Court held that the AIRFA did not create a cause of action to enforce those 

rights.22  In Employment Div., Dept. of Human Resources of Oregon. v. Smith, 494 U.S. 

872 (1990) the Court further held that Native Americans--and other citizens--could no 

longer challenge neutral laws burdening the free exercise of religion, overturning prior 

case law applying strict scrutiny in such cases.23 

 In response to these cases, Congress passed the Religious Freedom 

Restoration Act (RFRA), and restored the strict scrutiny analysis to free exercise cases.  

Sossamon v. Texas, 131 S.Ct. 1651 (2011).   RFRA provides, “in Employment Division 

of Oregon v. Smith the Supreme Court virtually eliminated the requirement that 

government justify burdens on religious exercise imposed by laws neutral toward 

religion.”  42 U.S.C. § 2000bb(a)(4).  RFRA further provides, “laws ‘neutral’ toward 

religion may burden religious exercise as surely as laws intended to interfere with 

religious exercise.”  42 U.S.C. § 2000bb(a)(2).  

                                                                                                                                                             

 
22 “[I]t can be argued that just like in Smith, the  [Lyng] Court refused to use the strict 
scrutiny test in cases involving the government's management of its own internal affairs, 
including its land management. Under this interpretation Lyng, like Smith, was 
overturned by RFRA, and courts are now free to come up with a different definition of 
substantial burden under RFRA.” Alex Skibine, Towards a Balanced Approach for the 
Protection of Native American Sacred Sites, 17 Mich. J. Race & L. 269, 279 (2012). 
 
23 Specifically, Smith overturned Supreme Court precedent including Sherbert v. Verner, 
374 U.S. 398 (1963) and Wisconsin v. Yoder, 406 U.S. 205 (1972), which applied “strict 
scrutiny” to facially neutral laws or government actions that burdened the free exercise 
of religion, requiring the government to demonstrate a compelling state interest is 
served by the least restrictive means.  
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 RFRA states its purposes are: “(1) to restore the compelling interest test as set 

forth in Federal court cases before Employment Division of Oregon v. Smith and to 

guarantee its application in all cases where free exercise of religion is substantially 

burdened; and (2) to provide a claim or defense to persons whose religious exercise is 

substantially burdened by government.”  42 U.S.C. § 2000bb(b).  That test prohibits the 

government from burdening a person’s exercise of religion unless the burden “furthers a 

compelling governmental interest” and is the “least restrictive means of furthering that 

compelling governmental interest.”  42 U.S.C. § 2000bb-1(b). 

 Plaintiffs state a claim against the Tribal Defendants under the RFRA, because 

the term “government” in the statute includes “any official (or other person acting under 

color of law) of the United States….”  42 U.S.C. § 2000bb-2(1).  The Tribal Defendants 

assumed federal responsibilities to preserve Hickory Ground pursuant to the NHPA 

when they entered the NPS Agreement and assumed the authorities of the SHPO.  

Therefore, Tribal Defendants are acting under color of federal law.24  Defendant Robert 

Thrower, PBCI’s Tribal Historic Preservation Officer, has been delegated federal 

authority under NHPA, and must fulfill those duties in compliance with the RFRA.        

 PBCI’s actions must also be attributed to the federal government, because 

pursuant to its historical preservation duties under the NHPA, PBCI is a “willful 

participant in joint activity with the [federal government].”  Brentwood Academy v. 

Tennessee Secondary School Athletic Ass’n, 531 U.S. 288, 296 (2001), quoting Lugar 

                                                 
24 Many of the other actions of the Tribal Defendants that are desecrating Hickory 
Ground are also taken under color of federal law, including but not limited to the 
excavation and disturbance of Plaintiffs’ ancestors, and engaging in commercial 
gambling at Hickory Ground pursuant to the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act.  
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v. Edmonston Oil Co., 457 U.S. 922, 941 (1982).  PBCI willfully assumed the SHPO’s 

authority to preserve Hickory Ground in joint activity with the NPS and the ACHP, and 

pursuant to that authority, PBCI is transforming the historic ceremonial and burial 

grounds into a commercial gambling resort.  The Supreme Court in Lugar held private 

conduct is attributed to the state when the deprivation of constitutional rights is caused 

by “the exercise of some right or privilege created by the state,” and the person “has 

acted together with or has obtained significant aid from state officials.”  Lugar, 457 U.S. 

922, 937 (1982).  In this case, PBCI’s authority to determine Hickory Ground’s historic 

preservation plan was created by the federal government pursuant to the NHPA, and 

PBCI exercises that authority together with the NPS and the ACHP, receiving significant 

aid from the federal government in the form of approvals and funding.     

 The Court in Lugar held that the government is responsible for private action 

“when the claim of a constitutional deprivation is directed against a party whose official 

character is such as to lend the weight of the State to his decisions,” Id. at 937, citing 

Monroe v. Pape, 365 U.S. 167, 172 (1961).  PBCI’s actions to desecrate Hickory 

Ground in violation of Plaintiffs’ RFRA rights are possible only because the federal 

government entered the NPS Agreement, which gave PBCI the SHPO’s historic 

preservation planning authority.   

 Moreover, the Court in Lugar held that state action is present where a private 

actor is performing a public function.  Id. at 939, citing Terry v. Adams, 345 U.S. 461 

(1953); and Marsh v. Alabama, 326 U.S. 501 (1946).  Because PBCI has assumed the 
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responsibility of historic preservation at Hickory Ground, the “public function” test for 

state action is met.  

 Despite this weight of authority, the Federal Defendants deny responsibility for 

the desecration of Hickory Ground, citing the D.C. Circuit in Village of Bensenville, 457 

F.3d 52 (D.C. Cir. 2006).  However, the facts of Bensenville are distinguishable, and 

“’[o]nly by sifting facts and weighing circumstances can the nonobvious involvement of 

the State in private conduct be attributed its true significance.’”  Moose Lodge No. 107 

v. Irvis, 407 U.S. 163, 172 (1972).  Under the facts in Bensenville, the court found the 

federal government played a “peripheral role” in that case, where the federal agency 

issued a single approval and did not commit federal funds.25  Bensenville supra at 65.  

In contrast, the Federal Defendants in this case undertook numerous significant actions, 

including but not limited to: recognizing PBCI as a tribal government; funding PBCI’s 

acquisition of Hickory Ground; accepting Hickory Ground into federal trust for PBCI; 

entering the NPS Agreement giving PBCI historic preservation authority over the historic 

property; failing to review the PBCI’s historic preservation program for compliance with 

NHPA; failing to notify or consult Plaintiffs as required by federal law; issuing permits for 

Defendants to excavate Plaintiffs’ ancestors; continuously funding PBCI’s historic 

preservation program; failing to enforce Plaintiffs’ rights claimed under the NAGPRA; 

and approving and licensing commercial gambling at Hickory Ground.  All of these 

federal actions and failures to act have substantially burdened Plaintiffs’ free exercise 

rights in violation of the RFRA.  Moreover, the non-federal actor in Bensenville did not 

                                                 
25 The court stated, “if the City wishes to receive any federal funding, it cannot relocate 
the cemetery without the approval of the FAA.”  Id. at 65. 
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assume federal responsibilities or act under color of federal law, as PBCI has in this 

case, by assuming SHPO duties to preserve Hickory Ground under the NHPA.  For all 

of these reasons, this case is wholly distinguishable from Bensenville, and PBCI’s 

actions must also be attributed to the Federal Defendants.          

 The desecration of Hickory Ground, including the excavation of Plaintiffs’ 

ancestors, the present construction of the gambling facility at the ceremonial ground, 

and the Tribal Defendants’ exclusion and arrest of Plaintiffs for praying at Hickory 

Ground, burdens Plaintiffs’ free exercise rights in violation of the RFRA.   

 The Supreme Court in Sherbert v. Verner, 374 US 398 (1963) held: “if the 

purpose or effect of a law is to impede the observance of one or all religions or is to 

discriminate invidiously between religions, that law is constitutionally invalid even 

though the burden may be characterized as being only indirect.”  Id. at 403-404; see 

also United Christian Scientists v. First Church of Christ, Scientist, 829 F.2d 1152 (D.C. 

Cir. 1987) (Government is permitted, and at times required, to accommodate religious 

practice when government itself, directly or indirectly, places a burden on religious 

exercise.) (citations omitted and emphasis added).      

 In Comanche Nation v. United States, 2008 WL 4426621 (W.D. Okla. 2008) the 

U.S. District Court for the Western District of Oklahoma enjoined the construction of a 

federal building located near a land form known as Medicine Bluffs, which was listed on 

the National Register of Historic Sites, and held sacred by members of the Comanche 

Nation.  In that case, the plaintiffs alleged the proposed construction burdened their free 

exercise rights under the RFRA because it “would further encroach on the last 
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remaining open viewscape on the southern approach to the Bluffs.”  Id. at *2.  The court 

granted a preliminary injunction, holding:  

Plaintiffs have demonstrated a substantial likelihood of success on the 
merits of their Religious Freedom and Restoration Act claim….  
Construction of the TSC warehouse at its current location will impose a 
substantial burden on the traditional religious practices of the Comanche 
people in the area of the southern approach to the Bluffs…. an 
unobstructed view of all four Bluffs is central to the spiritual experience of 
the Comanche people.  Id. at *7.    

 
The burden on Plaintiffs’ rights in this case is greater than the burden held to be 

substantial in Comanche.   The Supreme Court in Wisconsin v. Yoder, 406 U.S. 205, 

218 (1972) held that a law substantially burdens free exercise if it “affirmatively 

compel[s a person], under threat of criminal sanction, to perform acts undeniably at 

odds with fundamental tenets of their religious beliefs.” Id. at 218.  The PBCI’s actions 

excluding and banning Plaintiffs from Hickory Ground, and arresting them for praying at 

the sacred land, constitutes a substantial burden under Yoder.    

 In their motions to dismiss, the Defendants argue the desecration of Hickory 

Ground does not constitute a substantial burden on Plaintiffs’ free exercise rights, citing 

cases distinguishable from the case at hand.  Defendants rely on Navajo Nation v. 

U.S.F.S., 535 F.3d 1058 (9th Cir. 2009) where plaintiffs alleged “the use of recycled 

wastewater to make artificial snow for skiing on the Snowbowl, a ski area that covers 

approximately one percent of the San Francisco Peaks, will spiritually contaminate the 

entire mountain and devalue their religious exercises.”  Id. at 1063.  In that case, the 

Ninth Circuit emphasized that the government conducted extensive consultations, 

“including more than 500 contacts with Indian tribes and between 40 and 50 meetings, 
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to determine the potential impact of the proposal on the tribes.”  Id. at 1065-66.  

Furthermore, the federal agency committed to: “(1) continue to allow the tribes access 

to the Peaks, including the Snowbowl, for cultural and religious purposes; and (2) work 

with the tribes periodically to inspect the conditions of the religious and cultural sites on 

the Peaks and ensure the tribes’ religious activities on the Peaks are uninterrupted.”  Id. 

at 1066.  In contrast, the Defendants in this case are totally destroying 100 percent of 

the ceremonial and burial grounds at Hickory Ground.26   

 Furthermore, the Defendants in this case never meaningfully consulted with the 

Plaintiffs, and they aren’t just creating snow--they are literally digging up the Plaintiffs’ 

ancestors.  Unlike Navajo, the Plaintiffs have not been granted access to Hickory 

Ground for religious or ceremonial purposes.  Moreover, the court in Navajo held:  

“The use of recycled wastewater to make artificial snow also does not 
coerce the Plaintiffs to act contrary to their religion under the threat of civil 
or criminal sanctions, as in Yoder.  The Plaintiffs are not fined or penalized 
in any way for practicing their religion on the Peaks or on the Snowbowl.”  
Id. at 1070. 

 
In contrast, Plaintiffs in this case have been discriminatorily excluded, arrested and 

criminally prosecuted for praying at Hickory Ground.  Therefore, Defendants’ actions 

constitute a substantial burden under Yoder, and are totally distinguishable from 

Navajo.  

 Defendants also cite Midrash Sephardi v. Town of Surfside, 366 F.3d 1214 (11th 

Circ. 2004), but that case is inapplicable as well.  First of all, Midrash considered an 

                                                 
26 “[A] court would surely hold that the Forest Service had imposed a ‘substantial 
burden’ on the Indians ‘exercise of religion’ if it paved over the entirety of the San 
Francisco Peaks.”  Id. at 1090. 
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alleged free exercise burden violation under the Religious Land Use and 

Institutionalized Persons Act (RLUIPA), which is inapposite to this case.27  Nonetheless, 

even assuming the same “substantial burden” standard applies in RLUIPA and RFRA 

actions, there are important factual differences between Midrash and the case at hand.  

In Midrash, the Eleventh Circuit found, “[plaintiffs] do not claim that their current location 

has some religious significance such that their faith requires a synagogue at this 

particular site.”  Id. at 1228. 

 In contrast, Plaintiffs in this case assert Hickory Ground has religious significance 

to Plaintiffs, and activities that occur there cannot be replicated elsewhere.  Doc. 57  ¶¶ 

22, 57, 97, 98.  The plaintiffs in Midrash alleged that the ordinance at issue would 

require them to walk farther to reach their synagogue, and the court concluded: “[w]hile 

walking may be burdensome and ‘walking farther’ may be even more so, we cannot say 

that walking a few extra blocks is ‘substantial.’”  Id. at 1228.   

 The burden of “walking a few extra blocks” cannot reasonably be compared with 

the desecration of digging up Plaintiffs’ ancestors from a sacred place and being 

prevented from exercising religious freedom in order to build a casino.  Under these 

facts, there is “substantial pressure on an adherent to modify his behavior and to violate 

his beliefs,” which was absent in Midrash.  Id. at 1226, citing Hobbie v. Unemployment 

                                                 
27 In Navajo, the Ninth Circuit stated “For two reasons, RLUIPA is inapplicable to this 
case.  First, RLUIPA, by its terms, prohibits only state and local government from 
applying regulations that govern land use or institutionalized persons to impose a 
‘substantial burden’ on the exercise of religion…. RLUIPA does not apply to a federal 
government action, which is the only issue in this case…. Second, even for state and 
local governments, RLUIPA applies only to government land-use regulations of private 
land—such as zoning laws—not to the government’s management of its own land.”  Id. 
at 1077 (citations omitted).   
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Appeals Comm’n of Fla., 480 U.S. 136, 141 (1987).  Thus, the Defendants cannot rely 

on Midrash in this case.   

 Because Plaintiffs claim a substantial burden on their free exercise of their 

religion, the burden of persuasion shifts to the Defendants to prove that the challenged 

conduct is in furtherance of a “compelling government interest” and is implemented by 

“the least restrictive means.”  Navajo supra at 1068, citing RFRA §§ 2000bb-1(b).  

Under the demands of strict scrutiny, when “a plausible, least restrictive alternative is 

offered… it is the Government’s obligation to prove that the alternative will be ineffective 

to achieve its goals.”  United States v. Playboy Entm’t Group, 529 U.S. 803, 816 (2000).  

“A government body that imposes a ‘substantial’ burden on a religious practice must 

demonstrate, and not just assert, that the [decision] at issue is the least restrictive 

means of achieving a compelling governmental interest.”  O’Bryan v. Bureau of Prisons, 

349 F.3d 399, 401 (7th Cir. 2003). 

 In their motions to dismiss, neither the Tribal Defendants nor the Federal 

Defendants even attempt to suggest a compelling state interest that meets the demands 

of strict scrutiny in this case.  Nor do they argue any such interest is served by the least 

restrictive means.  As such, they failed to satisfy their burden in their motions. 

INDIAN REORGANIZATION ACT28 
 
 The Defendants contend that PBCI should be allowed to desecrate Hickory 

Ground because the land is held in trust by the United States.  That argument lacks 

merit because PBCI is required to follow federal law even if the land is in trust. 

                                                 
28 25 U.S.C. §§ 461 et seq. 
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Nevertheless, it is unclear whether PBCI lawfully exercises jurisdiction over Hickory 

Ground, because the federal government’s acceptance of Hickory Ground into trust was 

unlawful under the Supreme Court’s decision in Carcieri v. Salazar, 555 U.S. 379 

(2009).  

 In Carcieri, the Court held the Secretary of the Interior lacks statutory authority to 

take land into trust for tribes that were not recognized by the United States when the 

Indian Reorganization Act (IRA) was enacted in 1934.  The IRA authorizes the 

Secretary of the Interior to acquire land and hold it in trust “for the purpose of providing 

land for ‘Indians.’”  25 U.S.C. § 465.  The IRA defines the term “Indian” to “include all 

persons of Indian descent who are members of any recognized Indian tribe now under 

Federal Jurisdiction.”  25 U.S.C. § 479.  In Carcieri v. Salazar, 555 U.S. 379 (2009) the 

Supreme Court held: 

for purposes of § 479, the phrase “now under Federal jurisdiction” refers to 
a tribe that was under federal jurisdiction at the time of the statute’s 
enactment.  As a result, § 479 limits the Secretary’s authority to taking 
land into trust for the purpose of providing land to members of a tribe that 
was under federal jurisdiction when the IRA was enacted in June 1934. 

 
Id. at 383.  PBCI was not recognized as an Indian tribe until 1984, approximately 50 

years after the IRA was enacted.  Therefore, the Secretary lacked statutory authority to 

accept Hickory Ground into trust for PBCI.      

 The Tribal Defendants argue that all of Plaintiffs’ claims29 must be dismissed, 

because Plaintiffs assert PBCI’s conveyance of land into trust was unlawful.  PBCI 

                                                 
29 Even if the “special sovereignty interests” analysis was not abrogated by the Supreme 
Court in Verizon Maryland, Inc., and even if Plaintiffs sought to divest PBCI of its land 
pursuant to a quiet title action that implicated such interests, that doctrine would only 
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claims Hollywood Mobile Estates Ltd. v. Cypress, 415 Fed. Appx. 207 (11th Cir. 2011) 

requires dismissal of all Plaintiffs’ claims because “special sovereignty interests” are 

implicated.  However, the “special sovereignty interests” analysis cited in Hollywood 

was abrogated by the U.S. Supreme Court in Verizon Maryland, Inc. v. Public Service 

Com’n of Maryland, 535 U.S. 635, 648 (2002). “[T]o the extent that [we read] Coeur 

d’Alene as requiring federal courts to examine whether the relief sought against a state 

official implicates special sovereignty interests, we recognize today that Verizon 

Maryland abrogated this step.” Tarrant Regional Water Dist. v. Sevenoaks, 545 F.3d 

906, 912-914 (10th Cir. 2008) (internal citations omitted). 

 Furthermore, the specific relief sought by Plaintiffs in this case does not request 

the Court to divest PBCI of its land.  (Doc. 57).  Rather, Plaintiffs seek to be consulted 

and enforce federal laws to protect their ancestors’ human remains and funerary 

objects, and prevent PBCI from constructing a casino on the ceremonial and burial 

grounds in violation of their religious rights.    

 Nevertheless, Defendants’ violation of the IRA is relevant in this case, because 

the precarious legal title of Hickory Ground and PBCI’s uncertain jurisdiction must be 

weighed as the Court considers Plaintiffs’ pending request for injunctive relief.   

 The Court may take judicial notice that the State of Alabama filed legal action 

challenging whether the United States lawfully holds land in trust for PBCI.  In Rape v. 

Poarch Band of Creek Indians, pending in the Supreme Court of Alabama as Case No. 

1111250, the appellant challenges PBCI’s land status and jurisdiction under Carcieri. 

                                                                                                                                                             

apply to Plaintiffs’ IRA claims, but would not bar Plaintiffs’ claims under the other federal 
statutes that control PBCI’s conduct at Hickory Ground.    
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On January 24, 2013, the State filed an amicus brief in that case arguing that the 

Secretary of the U.S. Department of the Interior never had the authority to remove lands 

from the State’s control on behalf of tribes (i.e., PBCI) that were not under Federal 

jurisdiction in 1934.  If this is true, the title granted to PBCI is void ab initio and therefore 

unaffected by the statute of limitations. 

Those proceedings may ultimately determine that PBCI lacks jurisdiction over 

Hickory Ground, meaning PBCI has no basis to exercise SHPO authority; no basis to 

excavate under ARPA; and no basis to claim ownership over the human remains and 

funerary objects belonging to Plaintiffs’ ancestors.  For all these reasons, Tribal 

Defendants’ argument that Plaintiffs lack standing to assert a claim under the IRA fails.  

 Furthermore, on February 19, 2013, the State filed a separate legal action in the 

Circuit Court of Elmore County, Case No. CV-2013-900057, alleging that PBCI’s 

gambling activities in Alabama are illegal.  The Court should fashion relief to prevent 

further irreparable harm until those legal proceedings are resolved.   

 Defendants argue the statute of limitations under the Administrative Procedures 

Act bars a court from reviewing PBCI’s land status.  First it should be noted that many of 

the actions complained of are recent and ongoing.  However, in this case the Secretary 

acted ultra vires and therefore the statute of limitations does not even apply.  Wind 

River Mining Corporation v. United States, 946 F.2d 710, 715 (9th Cir. 1991) (holding 

“the government should not be permitted to avoid… challenges to its actions, even if 

ultra vires, simply because the agency took the action long before anyone discovered 

the true state of affairs”); Oppenheim v. Coleman, 571 F.2d 660, 663 (D.C.Cir. 1978) 

Case 2:12-cv-01079-MHT-CSC   Document 100   Filed 03/22/13   Page 36 of 42



- 37 - 
 

(permitting challenge to 30 year old agency decision that was substantively wrong); 

Legal Environmental Assistance Foundation, Inc. v. U.S. Environmental Protection 

Agency, 118 F.3d 1467, 1473 (11th Cir. 1997) (allowing plaintiffs to challenge 

regulations contrary to a statute in claim brought outside statutory period). 

 Moreover, the APA’s statute of limitations may be subject to equitable exceptions 

such as estoppel, equitable tolling, the discovery rule, and the continuing violations 

doctrine.  See Irwin v. Department of Veterans Affairs, 498 U.S. 89, 95 (1990) (holding 

equitable tolling is applicable to suits against the Government) and San Luis Unit Food 

Producers v. United States, 772 F. Supp. 2d 1210 (E.D.Cal. 2011) aff’d, 11-16122, 2013 

WL 765206 (9th Cir. 2013).  Under the facts of this case, any of the aforementioned 

equitable doctrines may apply.  PBCI should be estopped from invoking the statute of 

limitations.  PBCI acquired Hickory Ground with federal historic preservation funds, and 

promised to preserve it for the benefit of all Creek Indians including “the existing Hickory 

Ground tribal town in Oklahoma” “without excavation.”  (Doc. 57 ¶ 23).  PBCI then 

violated a preservation covenant30 by commencing development of a casino on the 

historic property, and excavated Plaintiffs’ ancestors and their sacred funerary objects 

for profit. To accomplish this, PBCI committed acts of fraud against the Plaintiffs, the 

Alabama Historical Commission and the United States.  Furthermore, according to the 

State of Alabama, PBCI is conducting gambling activity at Hickory Ground that is illegal 

                                                 
30 The violation of PBCI’s covenant to preserve Hickory Ground serves as an 
independent basis to enjoin Defendants’ excavation and construction activities.  PBCI 
should be estopped from asserting that the covenant expired, because PBCI violated 
and is in continuing violation of the covenant.    
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under Alabama law.  Finally, PBCI is violating free exercise rights guaranteed to 

Plaintiffs under the RFRA to pray at a Native American sacred place.  For all of these 

reasons, equitable doctrines may preclude application of the statute of limitations here.     

 Moreover, Plaintiffs had no reason to challenge PBCI’s land into trust when the 

Secretary made that decision, because Plaintiffs did not discover and PBCI did not 

harm Plaintiffs by destroying the ceremonial ground until recently, when PBCI’s recent 

casino expansion was announced.  Artichoke Joe’s California Grand Casino v. Norton, 

278 F. Supp. 2d 1174, 1183 (E.D.Cal. 2003) (holding that the six year statute of 

limitations to challenge recognition of Indian tribe did not begin to run until the decision 

had effect on challenger).  Therefore, Plaintiffs claim under the IRA has only begun to 

accrue.  

 If Hickory Ground was unlawfully taken into trust for PBCI under Carcieri, the 

PBCI may not lawfully exercise jurisdiction over the land.  That question must be 

weighed as the Court considers Plaintiffs’ request to preserve the status quo. 

BREACH OF FEDERAL TRUST 
 
 “The Federal government owes a fiduciary obligation to all Indian tribes as a 

class,” and at a minimum this means agencies must comply “with general regulations 

and statutes not specifically aimed at protecting Indian tribes.”  Pit River Tribe v. U.S. 

Forest Serv., 469 F.3d 768, 788 (9th Cir. 2006) (finding violations of NEPA and NHPA);  

36 C.F.R. § 800.2(c)(2)(ii)(B) (mentioning the “unique legal relationship” between 

federal government and Indian tribes).  Violation of this fiduciary duty to comply with 

NHPA, ARPA, NAGPRA, IRA, and RFRA requirements during the process of reviewing 
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and approving projects vitiates the validity of that approval and may require that it be set 

aside.  Quechan Tribe of the Fort Yuma Indian Reservation v. U.S. Dept. of Interior, 

2010 WL 5113197 (S.D.Cal.).   

 The federal trust responsibility runs to all Indian tribes; therefore, the United 

States was not permitted to ignore its obligations to MCN merely because it also owed 

fiduciary obligations to PBCI.  Lincoln v. Vigil, 508 U.S. 182, 194-95 (1993) (holding the 

Federal government’s obligation is not limited to a subgroup, but runs to the broader 

class of all Indians nationwide).   

 The federal government owes the common law fiduciary duties of a trustee to 

Indian tribes when statutes and regulations give the United States control over tribal 

resources.  United States v. Mitchell (“Mitchell II”), 463 U.S. 206, 225 (1983).  See also 

United States v. White Mountain Apache Tribe, 537 U.S. 465 (2003).  In this case, 

several federal statutes and regulations including the ARPA, NAGPRA, NHPA and 

RFRA, and their implementing regulations, give the federal government elaborate 

control over Hickory Ground, which it currently holds in federal trust.  Furthermore, 

those laws give specific rights to Plaintiffs, including the rights to be notified, consulted, 

and the rights to ownership and control over human remains of Plaintiffs’ lineal 

ancestors and the associated funerary objects located there.    

 Furthermore, the Plaintiffs had the right to object to the excavation of their 

ancestors, and right to prevent that excavation from occurring.  ARPA provides:  

Where the terms and conditions a tribe or landowner requests to be 
included in a permit are in conflict with the provisions of this or any other 
Act, with Federal regulations, or with each other, the Area Director may 
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negotiate with the requestor to eliminate the conflict.  If the conflict 
remains, the permit may not be issued.   

 
25 CFR § 262.5(c)(1)(v).  In this case, numerous federal laws were violated, and thus 

the United States never should have issued a permit to excavate Plaintiffs’ ancestors.  

The extensive regulatory control exercised by the federal government over the historic 

and cultural preservation of Hickory Ground, and the undisturbed human remains and 

funerary objects located there, imposed a fiduciary obligation on the United States to, at 

a minimum, follow the requirements of federal law.  The United States’ failure to notify 

or consult with Plaintiffs or provide them the opportunity to exercise their rights violated 

those fiduciary duties. 

CONCLUSION 
 
 In their motion, the Tribal Defendants claim “[t]his case presents emotionally 

charged issues that are doubtlessly important to the Plaintiffs.  There is similar emotion 

on the Tribal Defendants’ side….”  Indeed, the Plaintiffs care deeply about the spirits of 

their ancestors and the sanctity of Hickory Ground as a sacred place.  The Tribal 

Defendants care about the expansion of their casino empire.  They attempt to invoke 

tribal sovereignty—doctrine intended to protect and shield tribes--as a sword to violate 

the rights of others and destroy sacred values.       

 The United States should not be permitted to continue as it has for decades, by 

taking the path of least resistance, neglecting its obligations, and turning a blind eye to 

violations of Plaintiffs’ rights.  The federal government must follow its own laws and 

honor its fiduciary obligations to the Plaintiffs.     
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 This Court has jurisdiction and the authority to stop an injustice causing deep 

spiritual and emotional harm to a Nation and its people.  This Court has the authority to 

require the Tribal and Federal Defendants to act.  The Contractors must be ordered to 

stop their ongoing excavation, which has and continues to damage Plaintiffs’ rights and 

cause injuries.  There are still undisturbed remains of Muscogee ancestors at Hickory 

Ground, and despite Defendants’ actions, Hickory Ground is still a sacred place.   

Under the facts alleged and federal law, the Defendants’ motions must be 

denied, and the Court should intervene to prevent further irreparable harm. 

 
 

 
 

s/Brendan Ludwick                                      
Brendan Ludwick, Esq. 
Email: brendan@ludwicklaw.com  
5042 Wilshire Boulevard, #23340 
Los Angeles, CA   90036 
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